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INTRODUCTION 

The lending process starts with prospecting for commercial borrowers that are in harmony with 

your bank’s credit culture and the expertise of your lending staff.  Commercial borrowers’ 

desirability is dictated by the bank’s credit policy where clear statements are made to direct 

lending personnel to spend their marketing time on those prospects worthy of the bank’s 

attention.  If a relationship manager is successful in identifying suitable prospects, the next step 

is to understand the company’s industry, business, and management risk and how the company is 

affected by changes in the economic environment. I apply the “Tion” method of when explaining 

the lending process because each step involves an action that ends with the suffix “Tion”, which 

means “to act”.  Therefore, my perspective of the lending process under the “Tion” method 

involves the following steps: 

• Regulation 

o To play the game of banking, you must know the rules of banking 

• Solicitation (Business Development) 

o Efforts to continue the growth in the loan portfolio 

• Investigation 

o Detail analysis of the accuracy of all data submitted for review 

• Evaluation 

o Detailed analysis of financial and non-financial factors to determine creditworthiness 

including a borrower’s liquidity, leverage, asset management capabilities, operating 

performance, and cash flow 

• Decision 

o Is it a go or no go according to our credit policy, risk appetite and risk tolerance? 

• Documentation 

o To protect the bank’s investment in loans by assuring a secondary source of repayment 

• Administration 

o Portfolio management to ensure the borrower maintains a level of risk acceptable to the 

bank 

• Collection 

o If all goes wrong, can we get repaid through an effective collection effort 
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Good morning, and welcome to our release of full-year and fourth quarter 2020 performance
results for FDIC-insured institutions.

While banking industry income for the full year 2020 declined from full year 2019 levels, banks
remained resilient in fourth quarter 2020, consistent with the improving economic outlook.
Fourth quarter net income rose, primarily due to lower provision expenses for credit losses and
higher noninterest income. Net interest margin was unchanged from the record low level
reached last quarter. Deposit growth accelerated in the fourth quarter, reflecting persistently
high savings rates and lower spending. Banks reported modest declines in asset quality and loan
volume.

Community banks reported growth in net income during the full year and the fourth quarter.
Loan growth at community banks also outpaced the industry. However, community banks
continued to report annual compression of net interest margins and asset quality weakness in
certain portfolios.  

The low interest rate environment coupled with economic uncertainties will continue to
challenge the banking industry, placing downward pressure on revenue and the net interest
margin. However, the banking industry maintains strong capital and liquidity levels, which can
mitigate potential future losses.

The Deposit Insurance Fund (DIF) balance was $117.9 billion on December 31, up $1.5 billion
from the end of the third quarter. However, the reserve ratio declined one basis point to 1.29
percent, solely because of strong estimated insured deposit growth. In accordance with the

https://www.fdic.gov/
https://www.fdic.gov/news/
https://www.fdic.gov/news/speeches/
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Restoration Plan, FDIC staff continues to closely monitor the factors that affect the reserve ratio
and will provide progress reports and, as necessary, modifications to the plan to the Board at
least semiannually.

I am joined today by Diane Ellis, Director of the Division of Insurance and Research; Pat Mitchell,
Deputy Director of the Division of Insurance and Research; and Doreen Eberley, Director of the
Division of Risk Management Supervision, to discuss bank performance during full-year and
fourth quarter 2020.

Diane, I will turn this over to you. Thank you.

Chart 1:

Thank you, Chairman McWilliams.

Our first chart shows that full-year 2020 net income fell to $147.9 billion, down 36.5 percent from
2019. The decline was primarily attributable to higher provision expenses in the first half of 2020,
related to the decline in economic conditions. The average return-on-assets ratio (ROA) declined
from 1.29 percent in 2019 to 0.72 percent in 2020.
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Community banks reported annual net income of $25.9 billion in 2020, up 3.6 percent from 2019.
The improvement was attributable to higher noninterest income, which increased by $6.1 billion,
and net interest income which rose by $3.6 billion.

Chart 2:

Chart 2 shows that the banking industry reported quarterly net income of $59.9 billion during the
fourth quarter, a 9.1 percent increase from a year ago. This marks an improvement from the first
three quarters in 2020, where net income declined on an annual basis. More than half of all
banks (57.4 percent) reported improvements in quarterly net income from a year ago. The
industry’s ROA ratio was 1.11 percent during the fourth quarter, up from 0.97 percent in the third
quarter, but below a recent high of 1.41 percent in third quarter 2018.

With the improving economic outlook, provision expenses for the banking industry declined
$11.4 billion (76.5 percent) from a year ago, reaching the lowest level since second quarter 1995.
The reduction in provision expenses drove the improvement in quarterly net income.

Community banks reported quarterly net income of $7.4 billion dollars in the fourth quarter, an
increase of 21.2 percent from a year ago. Improvement in net income was led by higher net
interest income and gains from loan sales.
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Chart 3:

Chart 3 shows a modest decline in net operating revenue to $201.7 billion compared with a year
ago. While aggregate net interest income increased from third quarter 2020, it declined relative
to a year ago for the fifth consecutive quarter. The decline was primarily focused in the largest
banks. More than half of all banks (57 percent) reported higher net interest income compared to
a year ago.

Noninterest income rose $4.3 billion (6.5 percent) from a year ago—driven by higher revenue
from loan sales and sales of other assets.

Chart 4:
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Chart 4 shows a 60 basis-point reduction in the industry’s net interest margin (NIM) from a year
ago to 2.68 percent. NIM remains unchanged from the previous quarter. Banks of all QBP asset
size groups reported continued average net interest margin compression compared to year ago
levels, as reductions in earning asset yields outpaced the reduction in funding costs. Earning
asset yield and funding cost levels are both at record lows.

Chart 5:
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Chart 5 shows that the share of longer-term assets as a percentage of total industry assets
increased during the quarter, with more than one-third of industry assets set to reprice or
mature in three or more years. The industry continues to navigate the challenges presented by
the low interest rate environment. Banks added longer-term assets to their balance sheets,
which may help preserve or bolster net interest margins.

 

Chart 6:



2/25/2021 FDIC: Speeches & Testimony - 2/23/2021 - Remarks by FDIC Chairman Jelena McWilliams and Director of the Division of Insurance and…

https://www.fdic.gov/news/speeches/2021/spfeb2321.html 7/13

Chart 6 shows a decline of $48 billion (0.4 percent) in loan balances in fourth quarter. The decline
was driven by a reduction in commercial and industrial (C&I) lending, which fell by $104 billion
(4.1 percent) from the previous quarter. Small Business Administration-guaranteed Paycheck
Protection Program loans declined $84 billion (17.1 percent) from the previous quarter to $407
billion. On an annual basis, loan balances increased 3.3 percent. This was lowest growth rate
since fourth quarter 2013.

Community banks had similar trends as the industry with loan growth contracting quarterly but
expanding annually. Loan balances declined 1.6 percent between third and fourth quarter 2020,
led by a reduction in C&I lending but grew 10.3 percent annually due to community banks’
participation in the Paycheck Protection Program.

Chart 7:
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Chart 7 shows slight deterioration in the noncurrent rate in the fourth quarter, but a modest
improvement in the net charge-off rate. The noncurrent loan rate increased 1 basis point from
the previous quarter to 1.18 percent, driven by an increase in delinquent nonfarm nonresidential
loans. The net charge-off rate declined 13 basis points to 0.41 percent from one year ago, driven
by a reduction in credit card loan charge offs.

Community banks reported a modest decrease in the noncurrent loan volume, but the
noncurrent rate remained flat at 0.77 percent. Similar to the industry as a whole, noncurrent
existing CRE and multifamily loans at community banks increased. However, community banks
reported improved credit quality in the agriculture sector. The noncurrent rate for loans secured
by farmland declined 7 basis points year-over-year to 1.41 percent. The noncurrent rate for
agricultural production loans declined 19 basis points to 0.90 percent.

Chart 8:
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Chart 8 shows that the industry’s reserve coverage ratio, which compares the amount of loan-
loss reserves to the amount of noncurrent loans, slightly declined from the previous quarter to
184 percent. An increase in noncurrent loans, coupled with a reduction in provision expenses
during the quarter, drove the decline in the coverage ratio. Despite the decline, the coverage
ratio remains well above historical levels.

Chart 9:
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Chart 9 shows that deposits increased in the fourth quarter, rising $707 billion (4.1 percent) from
third quarter. While the increase in deposits for the fourth quarter is below the quarterly
increases reported during the first half of 2020, it is the third largest quarterly increase ever
reported in the Quarterly Banking Profile.

With the growth in deposits, the banking industry’s liquidity position continued to strengthen.
Cash and due from balances increased $357 billion (12.6 percent) from the previous quarter.
Total securities increased $321 billion (6.7 percent), a record high quarterly dollar increase.

Chart 10:
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Chart 10 shows the number of banks on the FDIC’s “Problem Bank List” remained unchanged
from the previous quarter at 56. The number of problem banks remains near historical lows.

Chart 11:
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The DIF balance was $117.9 billion on December 31, up $1.5 billion from the end of the third
quarter. Assessment revenue was the primary driver of the increase in the fund. Interest earned
on investment securities held by the DIF also increased the fund balance. However, unrealized
losses on available-for-sale securities held by the DIF offset the effect of interest income.

Estimated insured deposits grew by a robust 2.2 percent during the fourth quarter and stood at
$9.1 trillion on December 31. Although this growth is below the record increases experienced
during the first and second quarters of 2020, the growth rate was the highest fourth quarter
growth rate since 2008, excluding quarters when the Dodd-Frank Act TAG program was in effect.

Therefore, the reserve ratio—the amount in the DIF relative to insured deposits—declined by
one basis point and stood at 1.29 percent on December 31, as can be seen in Chart 11.

As mentioned earlier, because the reserve ratio fell below its statutorily required minimum of
1.35 percent as of June 30 of last year, the FDIC Board adopted a Fund Restoration Plan in
September of last year. The reduction in the reserve ratio was solely a result of the strong growth
in insured deposits.

Despite significant headwinds and uncertainty in the economy, the banking industry remains
strong in fourth quarter 2020. Quarterly net income improved as provision expenses declined
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and noninterest income increased. The banking industry reported accelerated growth in deposits
in the fourth quarter. Asset quality remains stable and capital levels are strong. However, the low
interest rate environment coupled with weak loan growth and the potential for continued credit
quality deterioration continue to challenge the industry.

We will now answer questions regarding full-year and fourth quarter performance of the banking
industry.

Thank you.
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Supervisory Policy and Guidance Topics

Real Estate

Real estate lending represents one of the major components of credit risk at many banks. The composition of
a bank's real estate portfolio will vary based on differences in lending experience, market competition, and
asset size. The Federal Reserve Board's real estate lending standards are found in 12 CFR 208, subpart E.
The "Interagency Guidelines for Real Estate Lending Policies" are located in Regulation H, subpart I, 12 CFR
208, appendix C.

Commercial Real Estate 
One of the most prevalent pieces of commercial real estate (CRE) guidance is, "Concentrations in CRE
Lending, Sound Risk-Management Practices (PDF)," which was issued on December 6, 2006. This
interagency supervisory guidance was developed to reinforce sound risk-management practices for
institutions with high and increasing concentrations of commercial real estate loans on their balance sheets.

Residential Real Estate and Mortgages 
In addition to providing supervisory guidance regarding residential real estate lending, this subsection also
contains guidance on subprime lending. Subprime lending involves extending credit to borrowers who exhibit
characteristics that indicate a significantly higher risk of default than traditional bank lending customers.

Appraisals 
The Federal Reserve Board’s real estate appraisal standards are found in Regulation H, subpart E, 12 CFR
208.50–51 for state member banks. For BHCs, the appraisal standards can be found in Regulation Y, subpart
G, 12 CFR 225.61-67. The standards primarily focus on the responsibilities of the bank's board of directors for
developing and issuing lending policies.

Consumer Compliance 
The Federal Reserve Board's Division of Consumer and Community Affairs issues Consumer Affairs (CA)
letters addressing policy and procedural matters of continuing relevance to the Fed’s consumer compliance
supervisory responsibilities.

Policy Letters

Appraisals
SR 18-9 Frequently Asked Questions on the Appraisal Regulations and the Interagency

Appraisal and Evaluation Guidelines

SR 17-10 Temporary Exceptions to the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and
Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA) Appraisal Requirements in Areas Affected by
Severe Storms and Flooding Related to Hurricanes Harvey, Irma, and Maria

SR 17-4 Interagency Advisory on the Availability of Appraisers

SR 16-5 Interagency Advisory on the Use of Evaluations in Real Estate-Related Financial
Transactions

SR 13-19 / CA 13-21 Guidance on Managing Outsourcing Risk

SR 10-16 Interagency Appraisal and Evaluation Guidelines

SR 95-27 (SUP) Interagency Statement on Appraisals for Affordable Housing Loans

http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=4bb5388982a43dd37aa6a58759e91b1a&mc=true&node=sp12.2.208.e&rgn=div6
http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=4bb5388982a43dd37aa6a58759e91b1a&mc=true&node=pt12.2.208&rgn=div5#ap12.2.208_1111.c
http://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/2007/SR0701a2.pdf
http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=4bb5388982a43dd37aa6a58759e91b1a&mc=true&node=sp12.2.208.e&rgn=div6
http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=4bb5388982a43dd37aa6a58759e91b1a&mc=true&node=pt12.3.225&rgn=div5#sp12.3.225.g
https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/srletters/SR1809.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/srletters/sr1710.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/srletters/sr1704.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/srletters/sr1605.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/srletters/sr1319.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/2010/sr1016.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/1995/sr9527.htm
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Commercial Real Estate

Residential Real Estate / Mortgages

Additional Resources

An Analysis of the Impact of the Commercial Real Estate Concentration Guidance (PDF) | HTML (April
4, 2013)

SR 95-16 (SUP) Real Estate Appraisal Requirements for Other Real Estate Owned (OREO)

SR 15-17 Interagency Statement on Prudent Risk Management for Commercial Real
Estate Lending

SR 09-7 Prudent Commercial Real Estate Loan Workouts

SR 07-1 Interagency Guidance on Concentrations in Commercial Real Estate

SR 05-14 Interagency FAQs on Residential Tract Development Lending

SR 93-33 (FIS) Clarification on Real Estate Lending Standards

SR 93-11 (FIS) Real Estate Lending Standards

SR 14-5 / CA 14-4 Interagency Guidance on Home Equity Lines of Credit Nearing Their End-of-
Draw Periods

SR 13-20 / CA 13-23 Interagency Statement on Supervisory Approach for Qualified and Non-Qualified
Mortgage Loans

SR 13-9 / CA 13-6 Minimum Standards for Prioritization and Handling Borrower Files with Imminent
Scheduled Foreclosure Sale

SR 12-11 / CA 12-10 Guidance on a Lender’s Decision to Discontinue Foreclosure Proceedings

SR 12-10 / CA 12-9 Questions and Answers for Federal Reserve-Regulated Institutions Related to
the Management of Other Real Estate Owned (OREO)

SR 12-5 / CA 12-3 Policy Statement on Rental of Residential Other Real Estate Owned (OREO)
Properties

SR 07-16 Statement on Loss Mitigation Strategies for Servicers of Residential Mortgages

SR 07-12 Statement on Subprime Mortgage Lending

SR 07-6 Working with Mortgage Borrowers

SR 06-15 Interagency Guidance on Nontraditional Mortgage Product Risks

SR 05-11 Interagency Credit Risk Management Guidance for Home Equity Lending

SR 05-10 Accounting and Reporting for Commitments to Originate and Sell Mortgage
Loans

SR 03-4 Risk Management and Valuation of Mortgage Servicing Assets Arising from
Mortgage Banking Activities

SR 01-4 (GEN) Guidance on Supervision of Subprime Lending

SR 99-26 (SUP) Interagency Guidance on High Loan-To-Value Residential Real Estate Lending

SR 99-6 (GEN) Subprime Lending

SR 91-20 Environmental Liability

http://www.federalreserve.gov/bankinforeg/cre-20130403a.pdf
https://www.federalreserve.gov/bankinforeg/CRE/cre-2013-part-1-executive-summary.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/1995/sr9516.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/srletters/sr1517.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/2009/SR0907.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/2007/SR0701.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/2005/SR0514.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/1993/SR9333.HTM
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/1993/SR9311.HTM
https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/srletters/sr1405.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/srletters/SR1320.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/srletters/sr1309.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/srletters/SR1211.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/srletters/sr1210.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/srletters/sr1205.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/2007/SR0716.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/2007/SR0712.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/2007/SR0706.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/2006/SR0615.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/2005/SR0511.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/2005/SR0510.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/2003/sr0304.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/2001/sr0104.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/1999/SR9926.HTM
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/1999/SR9906.HTM
https://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/srletters/1991/SR9120.HTM
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Last Update: August 04, 2020

Interagency Statement on Meeting the Needs of Creditworthy Borrowers (November 12, 2008)

Manual References

Bank Holding Company Supervision Manual
Section 2231.0, "Real Estate Appraisals and Evaluations"
Section 3270.0, "Section 4(c)(8) of the BHC Act (Real Estate and Personal Property Appraising)"
Section 3070.0, "Section 4(c)(8) of the BHC Act (Mortgage Banking)"
Section 2128.08, "Subprime Lending (Risk Management and Internal Controls)"

Commercial Bank Examination Manual
Section 2090.1, "Real Estate Loans"
Section 2080.1, "Commercial and Industrial Loans"
Section 2100, "Real Estate Construction Loans"
Section 2103.1, "Concentrations in Commercial Real Estate Lending, Sound Risk–Management
Practices"
Section 2040.1, "Loan Portfolio Management" (Mortgage Banking Subsection)
Section 2043.1, "Nontraditional Mortgages–Associated Risks"
Section A.2040.3, "Loan Portfolio Management: Comprehensive Mortgage Banking Examination
Procedures"
Section 2133.1, "Subprime Lending"
Section 2135.1, "Subprime Mortgage Lending"
Section 2200.1, "Other Real Estate Owned"
Section 4140.1, "Real Estate Appraisals and Evaluations"

Related Topics

Capital Adequacy

Credit Risk Management

https://www.federalreserve.gov/newsevents/press/bcreg/20081112a.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/publications/supervision_bhc.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/publications/supervision_cbem.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/topics/capital.htm
https://www.federalreserve.gov/supervisionreg/topics/credit_risk.htm
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This course will focus on all the steps in the Lending Process.  After the first step is 

accomplished, you must then understand the company’s business and how the economy and 

industry in which it operates affects its financial requirements. You evaluate the quality of the 

company‘s financial statements so that you know how reliable they are. You also evaluate the 

quality of the company’s management. All these factors operating together give us a true picture 

of our risk in lending to the company. 

Risk Assets (typically loans and leases) make up 50% to 80% of most banks’ total assets.  The 

importance of the Loan Portfolio is also reflected in the income statement, as the net interest and 

loan fees make up the bulk of most commercial bank’s earnings.  The investment community 

also understands the value of a quality Loan Portfolio.  It, along with the deposit base, is a 

critical factor in establishing a value for banks.  Asset Quality become increasingly important as 

regulators assign capital requirements based on asset quality ratings. 

 

WHAT IS RISK AND CREDIT RISK? 

 

Risk is defined as the potential that events, expected or unexpected, may have an adverse impact 

on the bank’s earnings and capital. 

 

Credit Risk is the potential that a bank borrower or counterparty will fail to meet its obligations 

in accordance to agreed terms 

 

Regulators define nine categories of risk they focus upon each time they visit a financial 

institution for a Safety and Soundness Examination.  Those risks are as follows. 

 

  

  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

  

   

 

The list above are not the only risks banks face each day however, these are the ones regulators 

believe are most critical. 
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Bank management must control all risks however, one of these risks is more damaging than 

others.  So, in your opinion, which risk poses the greatest threat to any financial institution 

survival?   

 

Therefore, Risk (Credit) Management is: 

 

 A continuous process (not a static exercise) of identifying risks that is sometimes subject 

to quick and volatile changes.  

 

 A subjective evaluation driven by the experience of the lending and credit policy 

management team of your financial institution.  

 

 Effective credit risk management is achieved through: 

◦ A comprehensive credit policy; augmented by 

◦ Supporting underwriting and portfolio management guidelines; implemented by 

Qualified staff; executing 

  

◦ Efficient processes and procedures from application through payoff 

 

CREDIT & RISK REVIEW 

One of the most significant roles of commercial banks in economic development is as arbiters of 

risk when banks analyze requests for loans and other credit related products and services from 

individuals and businesses.  As such, Banks are in the business 

 

• Observing Risk 

o There is a possibility of risk 

 

 

• Identifying Risk 

o There is a definite Risk 

 

 

• Measuring Risk 

o How deep and intense is the risk 

 

 

• Accepting Risk 

o Is the Risk in compliance with our Credit Policy? 

 

 

• Managing Risk 
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o How can we contain the risk to insure it is acceptable to the bank throughout the 

life of the loan and minimize the bank’s losses on loans that will go bad? 

 

 

The successful banker knows that a key to having a high-quality portfolio is to: 

 

1. Take an acceptable (as defined by your loan policy) level of risk.   

 

2. Manage those loans once they are on the books.   

 

3. Minimize the bank’s losses on loans that go bad.   

 

Our focus during this class will be on measuring and accepting risk. 
 
Financial statements and tax returns are used: 

 

• To evaluate loan request 

 

• Identify risk and properly structure credit facilities 



5 

 

INDUSTRY CHARACTERISTICS AND INDUSTRY LIFE CYCLES 

 

Understanding industry characteristics allows the lender to know how industry, business and 

management risks fit into the underwriting process and how to use this information to structure 

loans so that the highest probability of repayment can be achieved.  You will be able to develop 

an understanding of the unique characteristics of various industries and the expected impact on 

the financial statements.  Industries, products, and services go through life cycles bankers need to 

understand because it will dictate the proper management technique required to be successful.    

MACROECONOMIC INFLUENCES 

Companies and individuals are influenced by macroeconomic influences to some degree. 

Macroeconomic influences are defined as those factors that can impact the normal operations of 

an economic unit or individual. They are usually beyond anyone’s control and can be caused by 

a myriad of tensions including change is interest rates, inflation, unemployment, supply/demand, 

wars, government regulations, housing starts, etc... 

Macroeconomic influences also affect business or economic cycles. A business cycle is a 

recurring but irregular long term period of alternating periods of economic growth and decline. 

The unofficial peaks and troughs of the U.S. cycle are determined by the National Bureau of 

Economic Research in Cambridge, Massachusetts. NBER identifies the peaks and trough based 

on its assessments of factors such as gross domestic product (GDP) and employment growth. 

Understanding the economic cycles and its implication enables the lender to answer these key 

questions such as 

1. Which companies are most susceptible to a downturn in the economic cycle? 

 

2. Which companies will anticipate, respond to, and manage the impact of economic cycles 

most effectively? 

 

3. Which companies have financial conditions that are strong enough to withstand the 

effects of an economic cycle downturn? 

An economic (business) cycle has four stages as follows: 

• Early Expansion 

• Late Expansion 

• Early Contraction 

• Late Contraction 
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The Business Cycle 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Peak 

   

 

 

 

Trough 

 

 

 

 

Early 

Expansion 

 

 

 

Late 

Expansion 

 

 

 

Early 

Contraction 

 

 

 

Late 

Contraction 

 

 

 

Trough 

 

BUSINESS CYCLE STAGES 

Early Expansion 

Interest rates are relatively low, and consumer and business credit are plentiful. Sales and profits 

usually increase; companies expand physical plants, build inventories, and are optimistic about 

the future. Perhaps they add employees, start new business lines, or introduce new products. 

Consumers have high levels of disposable income, partly from secure jobs and increasing wages 

and partly from available credit. 

 

Late Expansion 

As the expansion continues consumer and business spending and demand for credit increase, 

pushing interest rates up. Capacity utilization climbs and prices stabilize for goods and services. 

Finally, the higher cost of credit and of goods and services begins to dampen consumer spending 

and business expansion. 
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Early Contraction 

As a period of contraction begins, consumers and businesses are not as optimistic about the 

future. Fewer new projects of addictions are begun. Less credit is demanded as borrowers try to 

reduce reliance on debt and become more liquid. 

 

Late Contraction 

As the economy slows down, unemployment goes up and interest rates gradually fall. Credit is 

available to only the most creditworthy borrowers. Eventually, suppliers of goods and services 

shrink to the point that businesses begin to see new opportunities for growth. The expansion 

cycle begins again. 

There is no standard duration for any cycle stage, nor is the height of the peak or the depth of the 

trough predictable or consistent. According to NBER research, since 1945, the average length 

ranking from 32 months to 116 months during that time. The Federal Reserve Bank watches 

economic indicators very carefully, as a key role of the central bank is to manage interest rates to 

ease the transition between cycles. 

SUSCEPTIBILITY TO RECESSION 

Studies that evaluated recessions since 1977 discovered a variety of industries that are or are not 

susceptible to recessions.  The results are shown below: 

Highly Susceptible Industries 

• Construction 

• Household furniture and appliance 

• Personnel supply services 

• Plumbing supplies 

• Stone, clay, and miscellaneous mineral products 

• Metal coating and engraving 

• Concrete, gypsum, and plaster product 

• Cutlery, hand tools, and hardware 

• Carpet and rugs 

• Motor vehicles 

• Equipment 

• Retail trade 
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Many of these industries provide products and services that consumers and businesses can 

postpone purchasing during a recession. Others are tied directly or indirectly to construction 

industries, which are particularly recession prone. 

Less Susceptible Industries 

• Beverages 

• Agricultural chemicals 

• Accounting and auditing 

• Educational services 

• Commercial sports 

• Communications equipment 

• Membership organizations 

• Museums, botanical gardens 

• Pharmaceuticals 

• Insurance 

• Food-Related 

• Energy 

• Medical and Health-Related 

• Federal, State and Local Government-Related Services 

 

Many of these industries provide necessities or public goods for which demand remains strong 

throughout the business cycle. 

Other industries in the list illustrate that demand for entertainment is resilient, such as 

professional sports and museums. Similarly, many economists observe that sin industries, such 

as tobacco and liquor, are recession-resistant. 

There can be exceptions to an industry’s general susceptibility to recession. One such exception 

is the influence of technology or innovation on demand for a product.  For example, in a 

recession when companies must reduce costs to survive, new technology that introduces 

efficiency and thus lowers costs can be very appealing. While the weakest companies may not 

have the means to acquire the technology, stronger companies with the support of capital 

providers often acquire the technology to reduce current costs. They also achieve permanent 

efficiency improvements that will pay off significantly when demand for their own product 
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rebounds during a recovery. This is an example of how a product’s life cycle stage can influence 

a company’s susceptibility to business cycle downturns. 
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What financial characteristics (safeguards) should be evident in companies that are prone to 

recessionary effects? 

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

LIFE CYCLES 

Industries, products, and companies evolve through predictable stages of development, and 

understanding these stages helps us interpret financial and non-financial challenges a company 

faces or is likely to face. 

The traditional stages of a life cycle are depicted in the following chart and generally apply to all 

the life cycle variations we will consider in this course: 

 

 

 

 

 

   

Emerging   Growth  Mature   Decline 

 

Emerging 

• Products are introduced to potential consumers. It is uncertain at this point if there will be 

acceptance and at what economic value. 

Growth 
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• After emerging or introduction stage, the industry enters the acceptance stage and as sales 

grow, management focuses on the issues of price, marketing, and service. 

 

Mature 

• Competitors enter the market and equilibrium is reached between supply and demand. 

Decline 

• Sales drop as demand falls. Unless innovation in the product(s), packaging or delivery 

occurs, the industry as a whole will fail. 

 

Provide two examples of industries in each of the following stages: 

Emerging 

•   

 

•   

Growth 

•   

 

•   

Maturing 

•   

 

•   

 

Declining 

•   
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•   

 

 

 

IDENTIFYING SEASONAL RISKS 

Seasonal risks are generally some of the easiest industry risks to spot, but it is appropriate to 

mention them as we wrap up our discussion of a company’s cyclical influences. The seasonal 

cycle is a temporary significant expansion of the operating cycle. 

What are some examples of businesses whose sales are seasonally influenced? 

•  

•  

•  

•  

These companies naturally have periods in which inventory swells in anticipation of seasonal 

sales, followed by a period of exceptionally high receivables caused by the high sales season. 

Companies such as candy makers can have a series of seasonal cycles within one year, when the 

operating cycles expands quickly and significantly to accommodate a season (religious holidays, 

Halloween, Valentine’s Day, Mother’s Day, etc.…) and then returns to its earlier level in 

between seasons. 

Keep in mind that seasonal risks are not limited to companies that maintain inventory. Seasonal 

service companies such as amusement parks may incur seasonal expenses (labor, security, ride 

refurbishment) that are not fully variable and may require up front financing, before a season is 

predicted to fail (tornado, hurricane, or even terrorist threats). 

What are the primary risks to a bank when lending to companies with seasonal risks? 

• If the season fails--such as a dry winter if a company sells road salt to municipalities--line 

of credit outstanding to finance unsold inventory or pre-season expenditures may wait 

nearly a year to be repaid. 

 

• Lenders must understand the nature of a company’s seasonal risks, consider the 

probability of a failed season, and evaluate both management’s strategy and the 

company’s financial resilience to respond to such an event. 
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Do any of the four companies we have been discussing have seasonal risks? 
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TYPES OF INDUSTRY 

Provide an example of a company in each of the following types of industry sectors, and identify 

the risks involved and financial statement characteristics common within that industry. 

MANUFACTURERS 

• Types: 

 

• Risks: 

 

• Financial Statement Considerations: 

 

WHOLESALERS 

• Types: 

 

 

• Risks: 

 

 

• Financial Statement Considerations 

 

RETAILERS 

• Types: 

 

 

• Risks: 

 

 

• Financial Statement Considerations 

 

 

 

 



15 

 

 

SERVICE INDUSTRIES 

• Types: 

 

 

• Risks: 

 

 

• Financial statement characteristics. 

 

AGRIBUSINESS 

• Types: 

 

 

 

• Risks: 

 

 

• Financial Statement Considerations: 

 

 

CONSTRUCTION 

• Types: 

 

 

• Risks: 

 

 

• Financial Statement Conditions: 
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REAL ESTATE: 

• Types: 

 

 

• Risks: 

 

 

• Financial Statement Considerations: 

 

 

NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS: 

• Types: 

 

 

• Risks: 

 

 

• Financial Statement Considerations: 

 

 

SOURCES OF INFORMATION 

If you are seeking information on a particular industry, what are sources of 

information available to bankers?  List as many possible sources of information: 

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  

•  
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•  
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT COMPONENTS 

 

▪ Opinion Letter 

▪ Balance Sheet 

▪ Income Statement 

▪ Statement of Retained Earnings 

▪ Statement of Cash Flows 

▪ Financial Notes 

 

Opinion Letter 

 

When an independent Certified Public Accountant completes an audit of a client's financial 

statement, an opinion is rendered based upon the client's compliance with generally accepted 

accounting (auditing) principles.  The likely opinions are Unqualified, Qualified, Disclaimer 

and Adverse.  These are explained in more detail in the following section. 

 

Balance Sheet 

 

Reflects a firm’s solvency 
 

Reports a firm’s assets, liabilities, and stockholders’ equity (aka net worth and capital) as of a 

specific moment in time 
 

• Assets 

Things of value, which are owned by the business such as cash, accounts receivable, 

inventory and equipment 
 

• Liabilities 

Debts owed by the firm such as notes payable, accounts payable, etc. 
 

• Stockholders’ Equity 

The owners’ interest in the business.  It consists of owners’ investments or 

withdrawals, profits made, which have not been withdrawn or losses incurred.  Profits 

and losses are combined in an account called retained earnings. 

 

Income Statement 

 

Reports a firm’s profitability for a stated period.  Profitability is measured in each period by 

comparing the revenues generated with costs and expenses incurred to produce those 

revenues. 
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Statement of Retained Earnings  

 

This statement reflects the change in retained earnings from one accounting period to another 

by determining if retained earnings increased by the exact amount of profits earned for the 

period or losses incurred for the period.  If retained earnings did not increase by the same 

amount as profits earned, it could mean that a dividend was declared, or the owners withdrew 

funds out of the company.   

 

Statement of Cash Flows 

 

Shows the cash inflows and cash outflows from operating activities, investing activities and 

financing activities. 

 

▪ Operating Activities 

Generally, includes the cash effects of transactions and other events that enter the 

determination of net income.  It is the cash generated or used in producing profits or 

losses. 

 

▪ Investing Activities 

Generally, includes the cash effects of transactions involving the acquisition or 

disposal of fixed assets 

 

▪ Financing Activities 

Generally, includes the cash effects of transactions and other events involving 

creditors and owners 

 

Financial Notes  

 

Notes to the Financial Statements (as they are referred to) provide more detailed 

information about significant accounts on the balance sheet and income statement.  They 

may cover areas such as: 

 

▪ Accounts Receivable:  Amount of allowance for doubtful accounts and charges to 

earnings. 

 

▪ Inventory:  State the inventory costing method and the components of inventory 

 

▪ Fixed Assets:  State the depreciation method utilized, the estimated useful lives of 

assets and the components of fixed assets 
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ACCOUNTANT PREPARED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

TYPES OF FINANCIAL REPORTS 

 

Compilation 

 

Non-disclosure 

Full disclosure 

 

▪ The CPA puts information provided by the client in proper financial statement form. 

▪ It is in accordance with GAAP 

▪ It does not express any assurances 

▪ The CPA is not required to make inquiries of management or perform other procedures to 

verify, corroborate, or review information provided by the client. 

 

Review 

▪ CPA makes certain inquiries of management and performs analytical procedures. 

▪ Not required to understand the company’s internal structure, test accounting records, 

observe inventory, confirm receivables, or obtain other corroborating evidence, as 

required in an audit engagement. 

Audit 

CPA goes beyond a review and on a test basis, examines evidence supporting the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements.
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TYPES OF AUDIT OPINION LETTERS 

 
UNQUALIFIED OPINION 

In rendering an Unqualified Opinion, the auditor is saying that all financial information that was 

available, in order and met all auditing standards.  After closing the examination, the auditor did 

not have major concerns or serious unanswered questions.  For a company’s management team, 

this opinion is the equivalent of receiving a gold star. 

UNQUALIFIED OPINION WITH EXPLANATORY LANGUAGE ADDED 

In such a case, the audit is still Unqualified, but the auditor felt it was necessary to add certain 

explanatory language to their report.  Doing so is not regarded as a qualification.  The auditors 

could be pointing out some inconsistency in applying accounting principles or mentioning an 

uncertainty that could have a material impact on the company’s financial statements 

QUALIFIED OPINION 

An auditor will write this type of letter to management when most of the company’s financial 

statements are in order and meet auditing standards, except for one or more accounts or 

transactions.  The accounts or transactions in question will be named in the opinion letter.  The 

financial information provided to the auditor was not complete or the company’s accounting 

methods do not follow Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.  

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION 

When an auditor is not able to express an opinion, it is generally because the company did not 

provide sufficient financial information for an audit.  Opinion letters with such a disclaimer are 

relatively rare, but they may be viewed as indications that the company refused to cooperate with 

the auditor after engaging their services.  Such a letter casts doubt on the quality of the company 

and its management 

ADVERSE OPINION 

This is a failing grade.  The auditor is saying that the financial statements are not accurate or 

complete.  The statements do not present the company’s financial position or results in 

accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.  Such as opinion letter is a warning 

that the financial statements do not give a fair view of the company 

Management Letter 

This letter is written to management by the CPA firm to address findings in the audit that may be 

a conflict of interest and other recommendations to improving the accounting system. 
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INTERPRETATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS 
The balance sheet is a picture of a company at a given point in time. The balance sheet identifies 

all assets, liabilities, and net worth of a company. The accounting or balance sheet equation is: 

 

Assets = liabilities + net worth. 

 

Assets consist of current assets, fixed assets, intermediate assets, and other assets as follows: 

 

CURRENT ASSETS       CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 

• Cash        Short Term Notes Payable 

• Marketable Securities     Line of Credit 

• Accounts Receivable     Current Portion of LTD 

• Allowance for Doubt Account (Contra Account)  Accounts Payable 

• Inventory       Accrued Expenses 

• Pre-paid Expenses      Income Tax Payable 

• Income Tax Refund 

 

FIXED ASSETS       LONG TERM DEBT 

 

• Land        Long Term Notes Payable 

• Buildings       Mortgage Payable 

• Equipment       Deferred Taxes 

• Furniture & Fixtures      Due to Officers 

• Leasehold Improvements 

• Operating Leases 

• Capital Leases 

• Accumulated Depreciation (Contra Account) 

 

OTHER ASSETS       NET WORTH 

• Due from Stockholders     Common Stock 

• Employee Advances      Preferred Stock 

• Due from Related Companies     Paid-In-Capital (Surplus) 

• Other Receivables      Retained Earnings 

• Deposits       Treasury Stock 

• Intangibles 

• Deferred Assets 

• Investments 

• Other Non-Operating Assets 
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INCOME STATEMENT ANALYSIS 

 
The income statement shows the amount of sales/revenues generated and cost/expenses incurred.  

The bottom line of an income statement indicates whether the entity earned a profit or incurred a 

loss.  Unlike a balance sheet, which captures the value of assets, liabilities, and net worth at a 

specific point in time, the income statement captures activity over a period. The business has 

generated revenues from sales and paid total expenses. The typical income statement is 

structured as follows: 

 

 

 Sales 
 
- Cost of Goods Sold 
 
= Gross Profit 
 
-  Operating expenses (selling expenses, general and administrative expenses) 

 

= Operating income 

 

- Non-operating expenses (interest expense, other nonrecurring expenses) 

 

+ Non-operating income (interest income, other nonrecurring income) 

 

= Net income before tax 

 

+ Taxes 

 

= Net profit after tax 
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HOW THE INCOME STATEMENT AND BALANCE SHEET ARE RELATED 

 
Economic events will typically start through an entry onto the Income Statement and the results 

of that event will find its way to the Balance Sheet.  In other words, whatever occurs on the 

Income Statement will end up on the Balance Sheet. 

 

Another perspective is that the Balance Sheet is the end results of what occurred on the Income 

Statement.  Using the chart below, match the items on the Income Statement with the 

corresponding Balance Sheet Account shown below the chart.  This will strengthen your 

understanding of the Income Statement / Balance Sheet relationship and should enhance your 

understanding of Ratio and Cash Flow Analysis. 

 

 

Income Statement      Balance Sheet 

 

Sales for Cash     →→→→→  ___________________ 

  

Sales on Account   →→→→→  ___________________  

  

Billed for Work not completed →→→→→  ___________________  

  

Work Completed but under billed →→→→→  ___________________ 

  

Retainer Fee Before Work Performed →→→→→  ___________________ 

  

  

Cost of Goods Sold       →→→→→  ___________________ 

        ___________________  

 

Operating Expenses     →→→→→  ___________________ 

        ___________________  

 

Interest Expense   →→→→→  ___________________ 

 

Interest (Investment) Income  →→→→→  ___________________ 

     →→→→→  ___________________   

 

Non-Operating Exp.   →→→→  ______________ 

 

Income Tax Expense    →→→→→  __________________ 

 

Profit     →→→→  ______________ 
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Loss      →→→→  ______________ 

 
Dividend Declared         →→→→→  __________________ 

  

Receipt of Cash in Excess of  

 Par Stock Value   →→→→→  __________________ 

 

Cash Invested without Stock Issuance  →→→→→  __________________ 

 

Principal Payment on Long Term Debt →→→→→  __________________ 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Accounts Receivable  Current Portion of Long Term Debt 

Inventory   Other Liabilities 

Income Tax Payable  Dividend Payable 

Notes Payable  Interest Payable 

Accrued Expenses  Cash 

Accounts Payable  Retained Earnings 

Pre-Paid Expenses  Investments 

Billings in Excess of Cost Cost in Excess of Billings 

Capital Surplus  Paid in Capital 

Deferred Revenue  Unearned Revenue 

Current Portion of LTD 
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Current Asset Analysis 

 
Current assets are listed first on the balance sheet because they are the most liquid. They convert 

to cash in less than twelve months. 

 

CASH 

 

Cash consists of cash in banks, cash on hand and marketable securities. It would appear to be the 

most liquid asset and usually is. However, it may be pledged as collateral and not readily 

available to the company. Conservative companies generally have more cash on hand. Other 

conservative companies have less cash since they use the cash to quickly pay down short-term 

bank debt to lower interest costs. Rapidly growing or poorly managed companies have less cash 

available. Lenders should not make decisions based on cash balances kept in the bank unless the 

cash will be placed in a savings certificate to be pledged to secure the loan. Many charged-off 

loans had cash balances, and some very high cash balances, before they got into trouble. 

Companies need a minimum amount of cash to operate and the lender should be sure sufficient 

cash is available. 

 

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

 

Accounts receivable are amounts owed to a company for a product sold on credit or a service 

provided for credit. Accounts receivable are listed second on the balance sheet because they turn 

to cash more quickly than inventory. The number of accounts, average size, validity, and length 

of relationship are all key issues. For example, the lender will want to know if the business has 

50 accounts averaging $50 each or 50 accounts averaging $1,000 each.  Both present collection 

issues. If in default, it may not be worth the bank’s time to pursue all 50 accounts averaging $50; 

however, it would be worth pursuing the 50 accounts averaging $1,000 each.   

 

Validity is another issue for the lender. Will the borrower’s customer pay the amount owed? The 

receivable may not be valid due to poor product quality. Or was the service or product really sold 

and does the company owing the money can repay? Credit approval and collection processes are 

key issues in collecting accounts receivable. 

 

The lender will establish advance rates on the accounts receivable depending on the age, mix and 

collection experience of the company. The advance rates will vary by industry and experience. 

 

Allowance for Bad Debt is the amount available to charge off bad debts. The allowance is based 

on past charge-off experience and the current aging. Bad debt expense is charged on the income 

statement each month and accumulates on the balance sheet. When the company has a loss, the 

allowance is charged. If no allowance is listed, then the company directly charges the income 

statement when a bad debt occurs. This can result in large profit variations depending on the 

years’ experience. 
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ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE MECHANICS 

• Advance Rate 

• Dilution  

• Invoice Size 

• Account Debtors 

• Concentration 

 

• Advance Rate should be based upon: 

– Dilution Rates 

– Invoice Size 

– Nature of Account Debtors 

– Concentration 

– Advance Rate means the amount lender is willing to lend against the asset 

 

• Dilution  

– Measures how much of each sale dollar comes back to the seller or is not 

collected due to.  Includes: 

• Credit Memos 

• Returned Goods (defective) 

• Mis-pricing 

• Invoice Errors 

• Advertising Allowances 

• Trade Discounts 

– Should be calculated monthly and calculate the 12-month average 
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• The typical Advance Rate against Accounts Receivable assumes a 5% or less Dilution 

Rate.   

• The higher the Dilution Rate, the lower the Advance Rate 

 

A/R Advance Rates   Dilution Rate 

 80% - 85%   5% - 6% 

 75% – 80%   6% - 10% 

 70% - 75%   11%-15% 

 60% and lower  over 15% 

Accounts Receivable Aging Schedule 

DARCY COMPANY 

Accounts Receivable Aging Schedule 

December 31, 2011 
 Number of Days Past Due 

 

 

Customer 

Account 

Receivable 

Balance 

 

Not Yet 

Due 

 

 

1-30 

 

 

31-60 

 

 

61-90 

 

 

Over 90 

X $5,000     $5,000 

Y $14,000  $12,000 

 

$2,000   

Z 

 

$400    $200 $200 

All others 

 

$808,600 $560,000 $240,000 $2,000 $600 $6,000 

 

Estimated 

uncollectible 

percentage 

$828,000 $560,000 

 

1% 

$252,000 

 

5% 

$4,000 

 

10% 

$800 

 

25% 

$11,200 

 

50% 

 

 

Estimated 

amount 

uncollectible 

 

 

 

$24,400 

 

 

 

$5,600 

 

 

 

$12,600 

 

 

 

$400 

 

 

 

$200 

 

 

 

$5,600 

 

 

Balance in the 

accounts 

receivable 

account in the 

general ledger 

Desired credit balance 

in the allowance for 

uncollectible accounts 
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INVENTORY 

 

Inventory consists of supplies that are used to produce products or goods. These can include: 

 

• Raw material 

 

• Work in process 

 

• Finished goods 

 

Raw material and work in process are only found on manufacturer balance sheets. Raw material 

consists of the raw product used to make a product. It does not include labor. Work in process is 

the amount of products in the process of completion (raw material plus labor). Finished products 

are the finished product including all costs of raw material and labor. 

 

Inventory for a farm operation may include: 

 

• Grain/feed on hand 

 

• Cash invested in growing crops 

 

• Livestock held 

 

• Supplies (chemicals, etc.) 

 

The lender will want to know if the inventory is valued on the LIFO or FIFO method to 

determine the advance rate for collateral purposes. Also, the borrower’s relationship with 

suppliers will need to be considered. Suppliers may also be purchasers of the product or service 

and may have offsetting accounts payable for the lender to consider. 
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INVENTORY 

COMPARISON OF COSTING METHODS 

 

 FIFO LIFO 

 

SALES  $12,000  $12,000 

Less: Cost of Goods Sold     

Opening Inventory -0-  -0-  

+ Purchases:     

500 units @ $8 4,000  4,000  

200 units @ $9 1,800  1,800  

400 units @ $10 4,000  4,000  

600 units @ $11 6,600  6,600  

Total Goods Available for 

Sale 

16,400 

 

 16,400  

Less:  Ending Inventory (7,600)  (5,800) ⧫  

= Cost of Goods Sold  (8,800)  (10,600) 

Gross Profit  3,200  1,400 

Less: Income Taxes  (960)  (420) 

 

= Net Profit  $2,240  $980 

 

 

 600 Units @ $11 = $6,600     

    100 Units @ $10 = $1,000 

$7,600 

 

⧫ 500 Units @ $8 = $4,000 

    200 Units @ $9 = $1,800 

$5,800 
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Determining Ending Inventory Under Weighted-Average Method Using 

Perpetual Inventory Procedure 

           

 

   

 Purchased  Sold  Balance   

Date Units 

Unit 

Cost Total  Units Unit Cost Total  Units 

Unit 

Cost 

 

Total   

Beg. Inv.                 10 $8.00  

 
  

 

$80.00  A new unit cost is 

Mar. 2 10 $8.50  $85            20 8.25 

a 

165.00  calculated after each 

Mar. 10         10 

 

$8.25  
 

$82.50    10 8.25 

  

82.50  purchase. 

May 28 20 8.40 168           30 8.35 

b 

250.50   

July 14         20 8.35 167.00   10 8.35 

  

83.50   

Aug. 12 10 9.00 90           20 8.675 

c 

173.50  The unit cost of sales 

Sept. 7         10 8.675 86.75   10 8.675 

 

86.75  is the most recently 

Oct. 12 20 8.80 176           30 8.758 

d 

262.75  calculated unit cost. 

Nov. 22         20 8.758 175.17*   10 8.758 

  

87.58   

Dec. 21 10 9.10 91      20 $8.929 

e  

$178.58 
  Balance of $178.58 

                      
  

   would agree with 

           

 

  balance already 

    
a $165.00 / 20 = $8.25    

 

  existing in the  

    
b $250.50 / 30 = $8.35    

 

  merchandise 

    
c $173.50 / 20 = $8.675    

 

  inventory account. 

    
d $262.75 / 30 = $8.758    

 

   

    
e $178.58 / 20 = $8.929    

 

   

    
* Rounding difference    

 

   

 

 

 

 

 



33 

 

 

In analyzing current assets, lenders must determine if they are becoming liquid. 

 

Key questions for the lender are: 

 

•Is the cash available to the company? 

 

•What is the minimum cash needed? 

 

•What is the age, mix and validity of accounts receivable? 

 

•Are any of the accounts receivable not collectable and what concentrations are there? 

 

•What is the inventory composed of and how does the company maintain a limited supply? 

 

FIXED ASSETS 

 

Fixed assets include equipment, land, buildings, and leasehold improvements. Equipment 

consists of the various pieces of equipment used to produce a product or provide a service. 

Equipment is valued at cost less depreciation. The amount of depreciation is determined by the 

age, type and depreciation method used. Depreciation is a non-cash expense recognized on the 

income statement and deducted from the fixed asset account. Equipment can also be very 

specialized or used by many industries. Land is valued at cost and does not depreciate. Buildings 

are listed at cost less depreciation. Depending on the time the land and building is owned, it may 

represent a source of hidden equity to the lender. 

 

Leasehold improvements are improvements made to buildings rented or leased by the company. 

They include such items as carpet, lighting, and wallpaper. Leasehold improvements represent 

no collateral value to the lender. Equipment, land and building collateral value will vary by the 

type, age, and specialty of the asset. For example, a dentist office has less collateral value than an 

office warehouse building, which can be used by many users. 

 

The capacity of the fixed assets and their efficiency is also an issue. If the fixed assets are not 

used to their maximum capacity, growth may be limited in the future or products possibly not 

shipped on time. For example, a farmer can only harvest so much acreage with one combine. Is 

there excess capacity that could be rented out? For a manufacturer, are assets being used 

efficiently and is the plant laid out properly? All these questions are important to the lender 

because they impact profitability. 

 

The lender must consider the age and technology of the equipment. If the equipment is old, it 

may need excessive maintenance causing the company to need a new equipment loan soon. Does 

the company have the ability to repay new term debt? Some equipment, such as telephone and 

computer equipment, has a short technological life. Will the company need to replace the 

equipment frequently and what is the cost impact? 
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Summary of Depreciation Methods 

 

 

Method 

 

Base Calculation 

Straight-line  Asset _     Estimated  

cost           salvage value 

________base 

Number of years of useful life 

 

Units-of-production Asset _     Estimated 

cost           salvage value 

Base x               units produced this period 

Estimated total units of production 

 

Sum-of-the-years’-digits Asset _     Estimated 

cost           salvage value

  

Base x    number of years of useful life 

remaining     at beginning of accounting 

period_ 

SOYD 

 

Double-declining-balance Asset _     Accumulated 

cost          depreciation 

 

Base x (2 x Straight-line rate) 
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Comparison of Straight-line, Sum-of-the-Years' Digits and Double-Declining-Balance Depreciation Methods 

 
 
 

Straight-Line Method 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Sum-of-the-Years'-Digits Method 
 

  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Double-Declining-Balance Method 
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Other Assets 

 

Other assets are intangibles, prepaid assets, goodwill, investments, and deposits. Intangibles and 

goodwill are assets from the sale of a business. An example of an Other Asset that may be 

purchased and is intangible is a company name. Prepaid assets are amounts paid in advance for a 

service to be provided later. Annual insurance payments are an example of prepaid assets. For 

agricultural businesses, prepaid assets are listed as a current asset. Investments include such 

things as funds invested in other businesses outside the operating business and long-term 

investments such as real estate partnerships. Deposits are amounts paid in advance. For example, 

rental deposits on real estate are paid in advance and returned when the lease is canceled. 

 

 

Current Liabilities Analysis 
 

Liabilities are listed in order of payment. Liabilities are also current or long-term. Current 

liabilities are those due in less than twelve months. Long-term liabilities are due in over one year. 

Current liabilities are notes payable to banks, notes payable to others, accounts payable, accrued 

expenses and current maturities of long-term debt.  

 

NOTES PAYABLE  

 

 Notes Payable, generally to banks, are short-term borrowings usually used to finance current 

assets. The loans may be due to seasonal or one-time orders. Loans over the winter to finance 

snow blowers are an example of a short-term seasonal note. The loans are due in a single 

payment at the end of the season. Another example is a company, which receives a one-time 

order and needs a short-term note to finance the accounts receivable. The loan is due in a single 

payment and repaid when the receivable is collected. Further information on structuring 

commercial and agricultural loans will be discussed in the next two modules. 

 

The interest rate, terms and collateral are all issues the lender must consider. If the interest rate 

floats, the cost of the loan may increase and the profit from the sale of the service or product will 

decrease. If the note becomes due before the product is sold for cash or before the accounts 

receivable is collected, will a lender be willing to renew the note? 

 

Notes payable to others are amounts owed to suppliers or others. If notes are owed to suppliers 

for inventory, the lender should understand why the inventory could not be sold quickly under 

normal terms to pay the supplier. If the note is for an equipment purchase, the lender will want to 

know why the debt is not structured as a long-term debt. Any liability in this account is unusual 

and should be thoroughly understood by the lender. 
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ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

 

Accounts payable are amounts owed to suppliers for product purchased. The amount is interest-

free financing and due usually in 30 days or less. The lender will want to know how many 

suppliers and the amount of debt owed to each. Also, most suppliers set credit limits. The lender 

must know if the company is at its limit or if it has the availability to purchase more products. If 

the company has only one supplier, there is more risk than if they have many. If the single 

supplier decides not to sell additional product to the company, they may not be able to stay in 

business. 

 

ACCRUED EXPENSES 

 

Accrued expenses are amounts recognized as expenses on the income statement but not yet paid. 

They include accrued interest, wages payable, profit sharing, bonuses, vacation, and taxes. The 

timing of the payment must be known along with the length of time until the company needs to  

 

fund the expense. Taxes accrued for longer than the current period are a warning sign of 

problems and the lender will want to determine the company’s ability to stay in business. 

 

CURRENT MATURITIES OF LONG TERM DEBT 

 

Current maturities of long-term debt are the principal portion of the long- term debt due in the 

coming year. According to accounting standards, the amount to be paid within one year must be 

reported as a current liability.  Interest is not included in this number because it is expensed when 

paid and it is virtually impossible to predict how much interest will be due over the next year.  

The amount of interest paid on Long-Term Debt will vary based upon the amount of LTD 

outstanding.  If payments are made in-excess of what is required, interest will be lower.  If not, 

interest will be higher. 

 

LONG-TERM DEBT 

 

Long-term bank debt is the amount owed over one year. The interest rate, terms, and collateral 

are all issues for the lender to consider. The lender also needs to know if there are any loans 

which have a long-term amortization, but a shorter term due date. If so, will the loans be renewed 

when they come due? 

 

Other long-term debt typically is the amount owed to stockholders or officers of the company. In 

privately held corporations, the owners will frequently take large personal salaries to lower 

corporate taxes. The owner then lends the excess salary to the company. When the company 

repays the loan, the amount is not taxed to the owner. In those cases, the debt should be 

subordinated to the bank. This means the officer or stockholder agrees to be paid after the bank 

debt is repaid. 
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NET WORTH 

 

Net Worth is made up of stock issued by the company to its owners in the form of Common 

Stock; or Preferred Stock issued to investors who are not given an ownership interest but will 

receive preference over the common stockholders in a liquidation plus interest and dividends 

(cumulative or non-cumulative); retained earnings which is increased or decreased by profits 

generated or losses incurred;  and treasury stock. Most privately held companies only have 

common stock. Retained earnings are profits left in the company. Treasury stock is stock 

repurchased by the company from its stockholders. 

 

 

 

INCOME STATEMENT ANALYSIS 

 
The income statement shows the amount of sales/revenues generated and cost/expenses incurred.  

The bottom line of an income statement indicates whether the entity earned a profit or incurred a 

loss.  Unlike a balance sheet, which captures the value of assets, liabilities, and net worth at a 

specific point in time, the income statement captures activity over a period. The business has 

generated revenues from sales and paid total expenses. The typical income statement is 

structured as follows: 

 

 

 Sales 
 
- Cost of Goods Sold 
 
= Gross Profit 
 
-  Operating expenses (selling expenses, general and administrative expenses) 

 

= Operating income 

 

- Non-operating expenses (interest expense, other nonrecurring expenses) 

 

+ Non-operating income (interest income, other nonrecurring income) 

 

= Net income before tax 

 

+ Taxes 
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= Net profit after tax 
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Sales 

 
Analysis of the income statement starts with sales, which is the revenue a business receives for 

selling its products or services. Revenues from sales are usually recognized when the product is 

shipped, or the service is provided. However, the accounting method may vary from industry to 

industry. For example, a construction company may recognize revenue when the project is 

complete or use the percentage of completion method. If using the completion method and the 

project is 25% completed during the first quarter, then revenues for the first quarter of the project 

are recognized.  If using the completion accounting method, no revenues would be recognized 

until the project is finished 

. 

 

An important factor when analyzing revenues is the impact of accrual basis of accounting and 

cash basis of accounting on revenues. Accrual accounting matches revenues with costs and 

expenses regardless of if cash is collected (from revenue) or spent on costs and expenses.  Cash 

accounting recognizes revenue, costs, and expenses when cash is received or paid. Accrual 

accounting is a better measure of how the borrower has managed assets and how profitable the 

operating entity is. 

 

A good indicator of a company’s performance is the change in sales level over several 

statements. By comparing revenues over several years, the lender can begin to determine 

management’s decisions over time. It is worthwhile for the lender to note the change in dollars 

and percentage over time. 

 

If sales for a company for the last three years (in thousands) are as follows: 

 

  14 15 16 

 sales $506 $501 $730 

 percentage change         N/A (.8%) 45% 

 

Sales decreased from 2014 to 2015 and then increased in 2016. It is helpful to express Sales 

activity by the percentage change and not by the change in absolute dollars. With a decrease 

followed by growth, the lender will want to know the cause of each. If the industry has grown 

consistently at 30%, then the company is not keeping up with the industry. The lender needs to 

know why. However, if the industry is growing at a 5% rate annually, the lender should  

understand why they are able to grow faster in year 2016. 

 

Analyzing revenue by sales mix is also a useful analysis.  For example, if 2014 sales are made up 

of 28,000 units while 2015 sales are made up of 19,600 units, then the average sale price has 

increased from $18.07 to $25.56.  The company has less unit sales, however, sales only 

decreased by .8%.  This should raise concerns with the lender. If the 2016 sales are made up of 

33,000 sales, then the number of unit sales is up, but the average sale has decreased to $22.  

 

 If the company raised its prices 25% per year, then sales by unit were down in 2015. If prices 
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were raised 5% per year, then sales by unit were up in 2016. Price increases are used to offset 

increased production costs and operating costs or to improve profitability. Price increases are 

dependent on the industry served. Some industries will tolerate price increases regularly and 

others will not.  Be wary of companies utilizing price increases to show a higher level of 

revenue.  Few products or services are price inelastic. 

 

A substantial jump in the level of sales from one year to the next may be attributable to a one-

time sale of an unusually costly product or service. For the company, sales jumped substantially 

in 2016. The lender may determine they had a one-time sale on factory closeout items that will 

not reoccur in 2016. Again, the lender needs to understand the reason and its impact on the 

company’s future performance and borrowing needs. 

 

 

In all cases, the lender’s most important question is: What is causing the change? With this 

understanding, the lender can begin to assess risk. 

 

For some industries, the lender will also want to know about sales backlogs, discounts, and 

returns. Sales backlogs will give the lender an indication about future revenues. Discounts are 

amounts given for early payment on accounts receivable. Returns are decreases in sales usually 

caused by poor quality merchandise. Both can be an indication of problems, depending on the 

industry. 

 

Cost of Goods Sold 

 
Cost of goods sold are the “direct” costs incurred primarily by manufacturers for producing their 

product. For wholesalers and retailers, the cost of goods sold is the price paid to purchase 

finished goods. For service businesses, there is no cost of goods sold as no product is purchased 

or manufactured for resale.  For farms, there are no cost of goods sold on the Schedule F since all 

cost of production expenses are included as expenses on the Schedule F. 
 .  

Cost of goods sold for a manufacturer is calculated as follows: 
 

Beginning inventory 

 

+ Raw Material 

 

+ Labor Costs 

 

+ Manufacturing Overhead 

 

= Cost of goods available for sale 
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- Work in Process 

 

- Ending Inventory 

` 

= Cost of Goods Sold 
 
The cost of goods sold for wholesalers and retailers is calculated as follows: 

 

 

Beginning inventory 

 

+ Purchases of Finished Products 

 

- Less Ending Inventory 

 

=Cost of Goods Sold 

 
 

 

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN 

 

Gross profit is calculated by subtracting cost of goods sold from sales. This is the money left to 

pay operating expenses and taxes. For ALSC the calculation is as follows 

 

 2014 2015  2016  

 Sales $506  $501 $730 

 -Cost of goods sold $350  $353 $517 

 =Gross profit $156  $148 $213 

 

It would appear cost of goods and gross profits are increasing. However, the best way to analyze 

cost of goods sold is not in dollars but in percentages of sales. Stated as percentages the numbers 

would be: 

  2014 2015 2016 

 Sales 100% 100% 100% 

Cost of goods sold 69.2 %    70.4 %            70.7 % 

Gross profit 30.8 %             29.6 %            29.3 % 

 

The percentages affirm that the company’s gross profit is declining. When analyzing the various 

expenses, it is good to think of them in terms of one percent changes. For example, the 1.2% 

change from 2014 to 2015 is a $6,012 change (.1.2% of  $501m sales). The company may not be 

passing on price increases of products or managing a changing sales mix. 



43 

 

 

When analyzing cost of goods sold, the lender must also know what type of inventory valuation 

method was used. The two methods are first-in, first-out (FIFO) and last-in, first-out (LIFO). The 

cost of goods sold is calculated using either the FIFO or LIFO method. Companies using the 

LIFO method during inflation will reflect lower gross profit margins and generally lower net 

profit margins. 

 

Another consideration in analyzing cost of goods sold for manufacturers is the depreciation 

method used. Depreciation is a non-cash expense recognized on the income statement for certain 

fixed assets. Land is not depreciated as a fixed asset. The length of the depreciation period and 

the type of depreciation method for tax purposes are set for specific categories of assets by IRS 

code. This is not the case for managerial depreciation. 

 

Variations in the way companies depreciate their fixed assets affect the income statement and the 

balance sheet. Again, two companies may do everything identical except use different 

depreciation methods, and one will appear more profitable than the other. 

 

Operating Expenses Analysis 
 

Operating expenses are costs not directly related to the production or making a product or 

purchasing finished goods. Operating expenses are considered controllable expenses in contrast 

to cost of goods sold. For example, the business owner may have only two or three supplier 

choices at similar costs but may control spending expenses by choosing to rent or buy a building, 

pay employees by commission or flat wages and so forth. For farm operations, operating 

expenses are related to the production of crop and livestock products. 

 

Operating expenses are usually variable or semi-fixed but may become fixed. For example, if an 

owner decides to purchase a building, then the mortgage payment becomes a fixed payment. By 

separating the operating expenses this way, the lender can better determine the total costs a 

company must cover whether it sells any product or not.  Operating expenses for business 

operations include the following: 

 

•Owner’s salary 

•Sales salaries 

•General salary expenses 

•Rent 

•Marketing expenses 

•Insurance 

•Utilities 

•Maintenance 

•Profit sharing 

 

 

Certain expenses may get out of hand if not monitored and the lender must be prepared to ask 
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why expenses are changing and what impact the changes have on the company. Again, operating 

expenses are best expressed in total dollars and as a percentage of sales. 

 

For the company, the operating expenses are: 

 

         2014         2015          2016 

 

Sales   506 100%  $501 100%  $730 100% 

 

Cost of Gods Sold  350 62.2%  353 70.4%  517 70.7% 

 

Gross Profit   156 30.8%  148 29.6%  213 29.3% 

 

Operating Expenses  145 28.9%  146 29.0%  177 24.3%  

 

Operating Income   11   1.9%     2   0.6%    36  5.0% 

       

Here is the beauty of margining or common sizing.  From 2014 to 2016, operating expenses 

increased in actual dollars but as a percentage of sales they decreased from 28.9% to 24.3%.  If 

operating expenses were analyzed in actual dollars, the wrong conclusion could be drawn.  The 

decrease in operating expenses as a percent of sales had a positive impact on profitability in 16.  

The 470 basis-point (4.7%) decrease in 2016 improved the company’s earnings over $34m 

when viewed as percentages of sales (730 x .047) even though operating expenses increased in 

actual dollars.  This result could only occur when comparing operating expenses to a common 

base or factor, which are sales. 

 

From this information above, the lender should dissect the operating expenses further to 

determine which expenses are causing the increase and check to see if they are increasing as a 

percent of sales.  If they are, the lender must comment on this in a credit memo if the increase is 

major.  The last categories are interest income, interest expense, other income, and other 

expenses. Interest income occurs when a company has extra dollars on deposit for usually short 

periods of time. Interest expense is the interest charged on debt. Other income and expenses 

include: 

• Income from renting out excess space 

 

• Gains on sale of assets 

 

• Losses on sale of assets and Non-recurring expenses which are neither cost of 

goods sold nor operating expenses 

 

 

After adding interest income and other income and subtracting interest expense and other 

expenses, the result is net profit before tax. This is followed by taxes and net profit after tax. The 

company has consistent other income; the majority due to an investment the company made in a 
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limited partnership. In 2015, the other income increased due to a one-time insurance refund. 

Interest expense has declined as the company has had less debt due to its increased profits.   
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CREDIT ANALYSIS 

 

 

Credit (Risk) Analysis is one of the most important functions performed 

by banks.  Since interest and fee income from loans represent the largest 

source of revenue for banks, it is vital that thorough credit analysis be 

performed before loans are approved and funded.  Credit Analysis not 

only considers the financial condition of prospective borrowers, but also 

considers non-financial factors which may impact the ability to repay 

loans. 

 

Proper Credit Analysis starts with analyzing the financial statements 

followed by reporting the findings in a Credit Memorandum, then 

recommending a loan structure that provides the borrower what they 

need while providing the bank with the highest possible chance of being 

repaid.  There is a very thin line between Financial Analysis and Credit 

Analysis because many of the techniques utilized to make an assessment 

overlap.  However, the biggest difference is that Credit Analysis is 

appropriate when money is on the line.  It focuses on analyzing financial 

and non-financial factors with the primary objective of determining the 

ability of a borrower. 
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TYPES OF ANALYSIS 

 

 
 

• Common Sizing: Balance Sheet items as a % of Total Assets 

 

Income Statement items as a % of Net Sales 

 

 

• Percent Change: Amount change shown as a percentage 

 

• Ratios:  Mathematical relationship among logically related factors 

 

• Net Working  

Investment: Using Liquidity Ratios to determine the Financing Gap caused by 

the investment in Current Assets that are not spontaneously by 

Current Liabilities 

 

• Financial Impact: Determining the financial impact on Cash Flow caused by  changes 

in the Operating Cycle 

 

• Cash Flow:  Determination of cash generation or usage from items on   

the Income Statement and from the changes in the Balance 

    Sheet items from one period to another period 

 

• Comparative:  Matching or contrasting to similar peer or industry data 

 

• Trend:  Analysis of changes over at least a 3 year period 

 

• Indexing:  Changes related to a designated base year 

 

• Forecasting:  Forecasting financial statements to observe the likely  

results based upon management’s assumptions 

 

• Breakeven:  Determination of the level of Sales required to cover Fixed  

Costs 

 

• Working Capital: Determine ability to meet current debt payments and to 

measure working assets efficiency 

 

• Sustainable Growth: Rate at which a company can grow and maintain a certain 

level of leverage (Debt to Worth position) 
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INTERPRETATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 

BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS 

 
The balance sheet is a picture of a company at a given point in time. The balance sheet identifies 

all assets, liabilities, and net worth of a company. The accounting or balance sheet equation is: 

 

Assets = liabilities + net worth. 

 

Assets consist of current assets, fixed assets, intermediate assets, and other assets as follows: 

 

CURRENT ASSETS      CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 

Cash        Short Term Notes Payable 

Marketable Securities      Line of Credit 

Accounts Receivable      Current Portion of LTD 

Allowance for Doubt Account (Contra Account)  Accounts Payable 

Inventory       Accrued Expenses 

Pre-paid Expenses      Income Tax Payable 

Income Tax Refund 

 

FIXED ASSETS      LONG TERM DEBT 

 

Land        Long Term Notes Payable 

Buildings       Mortgage Payable 

Equipment       Deferred Taxes 

Furniture & Fixtures      Due to Officers 

Leasehold Improvements 

Operating Leases 

Capital Leases 

Accumulated Depreciation (Contra Account) 

 

OTHER ASSETS      NET WORTH 

 

Due from Stockholders     Common Stock 

Employee Advances      Preferred Stock 

Due from Related Companies     Paid-In-Capital (Surplus) 

Other Receivables      Retained Earnings 

Deposits       Treasury Stock 

Intangibles 

Deferred Assets 

Investments 

Other Non-Operating Assets 
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INCOME STATEMENT ANALYSIS 

 
The income statement shows the amount of sales/revenues generated and cost/expenses incurred.  

The bottom line of an income statement indicates whether the entity earned a profit or incurred a 

loss.  Unlike a balance sheet, which captures the value of assets, liabilities, and net worth at a 

specific point in time, the income statement captures activity over a period. The business has 

generated revenues from sales and paid total expenses. The typical income statement is 

structured as follows: 

 

 Sales 

 

- Cost of Goods Sold 

 

= Gross Profit 

 

-  Operating expenses (selling expenses, general and administrative expenses) 

 

= Operating income 

 

- Non-operating expenses (interest expense, other nonrecurring expenses) 

 

+ Non-operating income (interest income, other nonrecurring income) 

 

= Net income before tax 

 

+ Taxes 

 

= Net profit after tax 
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Ratio Analysis 

 

I believe all borrowers should be scrutinized to determine their five vital signs of 

survival, which are critical for an entity’s success.  The method I recommend to 

check those vital signs is referred to as: 

 
LLAMOPCAFLO 

(Pronounced: la-mop-ca-flo) 

 

The five vital signs for all economic entities are: 

 

LIQUIDITY 

 

LEVERAGE 

 

ASSET MANAGEMENT 

 

OPERATIONS 

 

CASH FLOW  

 

If you stop and think about it, an entity’s financial woes occur in its inability to pay current debts 

as they come due (Liquidity); or debt on their balance sheet is more than the owners’ equity 

(Leverage); or management is not utilizing their assets (or may have the wrong assets) to 

generate sufficient sales or to create profits (Asset Management); or the company may lose 

money as a result of their operations (Operations); or the company may not be able to generate 

sufficient cash flow to sustain the company or to pay down long-term debt (Cash Flow).  If 

LLAMOPCAFLO is utilized, these issues will easily be uncovered. 

 

Please be aware that LLAMOPCAFLO measures an entity’s financial factors only.  Non-

Financial factors such as the character of management or the condition of the economy are not 

measured through LLAMOPCAFLO; therefore, it is recommended that two elements of the Five 

C’s of Credit should be utilized in conjunction with LLAMOPCAFLO to develop a full 

assessment of an entity.  Those two elements are the first and last measurements of the Five C’s 

of credit, namely Character 9of management) and Conditions (of the economic environment.  As 

a result, LLAMOPCAFLO has now been transformed into: 

 

LLAMOPCAFLOCC 

(Pronounced: La-Mop-Ca-Flock) 

Before LLAMOPCAFLOCC is measured, a simple calculation can be performed to determine if 

the proportion of Assets, Liabilities and Net Worth are in line with the type of business being 

analyzed.  This Measurement is called Common Sizing the Balance Sheet and Margining the 

Income Statement 
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COMMON SIZING & MARGINING 
 

 

Balance Sheet 

 

Calculation: Asset Accounts  Liability Accounts  Equity Accounts 

  Total Assets     Total Assets     Totals Assets 

 

Income Statement 

 

Calculation: Cost of Goods Sold  Gross Profit   Expenses Operating/Net Profit  

  Sales        Sales     Sales         Sales 

 

For the Balance Sheet, Common-Sizing allows the analyst to determine which asset accounts 

represent the majority of invested cash and where support of those assets is derived (either debt 

or equity).  It also allows the analyst to measure the shift in assets, liabilities, and net worth as a 

percentage of Total Assets. 

 

For the Income Statement, Common-Sizing (or margining) allows the analyst to determine the 

increase and decrease of income, costs, and expenses in relations to the change in sales.  It is not 

unusual for operating expenses to increase when sales increase. This is expected.  However, if 

the increase in expenses as a percent of sales (Operating Expenses divided by Sales) exceeds 

previous periods percentages, this increase should be vested further.   
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LIQUIDITY 
 

Liquidity is a measure of the quality and adequacy of current (short-term) assets to meet current 

(short-term) obligations as they come due. 

 

Current Ratio 

 

Calculation: Current Assets  

  Current Liabilities 

 

This ratio gives a general indication of a firm’s ability to pay its current obligations.  Generally, 

the higher the Current Ratio, the greater the cushion between current obligations and a firm’s 

ability to pay.  A benchmark for this ratio has been 2 to 1.  The higher the ratio reflects more 

current assets available to cover Current Liabilities.  However, the composition and quality of 

Current Assets is a critical factor in the analysis of an individual firm’s liquidity. 

 

Quick Ratio 

 

Calculation: Cash + Marketable Securities + Accounts Receivable  

Current Liabilities 

 

Also known as the “Acid Test Ratio”, it is a refinement of the Current Ratio and is a more 

conservative measure of liquidity.  The numerator from the Current Ratio is adjusted by omitting 

inventory (because of obsolesce, slow moving items and encumbered items).  The ratio expresses 

the degree to which a company’s Current Liabilities are covered by the most liquid Current 

Assets.  Generally, any value of less than 1 to 1 implies a dependency on inventory or other 

Current Assets to liquidate short-term debt 

 

Working Capital 

 

Calculation:   Current Assets minus Current Liabilities 

 

Working Capital is the amount of Current Assets remaining after the Current Liabilities are paid.  

This excess cash can be used to repay long term debt, invest in long term assets, or pay a 

dividend.  The higher the working capital the stronger the entity.  

 

    2017   2018   2019 

 

Current Ratio   1.98   2.41   2.94 

 

Quick Ratio   0.67   0.71   1.10 

 

Working Capital  1,878,000  2,005,000            2,352,000 
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Getting Behind The Numbers Hint: 

 

The stronger the ratio trend the more you need to check the quality of the current assets serving 

as the numerator.  Here are some check points: 

 

1. Check to see if there are any restrictions to Marketable Securities or can they be 

liquidated with ease and within a short period of time 

 

2. Check the quality of Accounts Receivable by examining an aging schedule, dilution rate, 

issuance of credit memos and credit terms 

 

3. Check the quality of Inventory by reviewing the inventory lists and noting items that do 

not turnover regularly 

 

 

Defensive-Interval Ratio 

 

Neither the current ratio nor the acid-test ratio gives a complete explanation of the current debt-

paying ability of the company. The matching of current assets with current liabilities assumes 

that the current assets will be employed to pay off the current liabilities.  

 

Some analysts argue that a better measure of liquidity is provided by the defensive-interval ratio, 

which measures the time span a firm can operate on present liquid assets without resorting to 

revenues from next year’s sources. This ratio is computed by dividing defensive assets (cash, 

marketable securities, and net receivables) by the average monthly expenditures from operations. 

Monthly expenditures are computed by dividing cost of goods sold plus operating expenses by 

12 months. 

 

Calculation:  Cash + Marketable Securities + Accounts Receivable  

    Average Monthly Costs and Expenses 

 

 

     2017   2018   2019 

 

Defensive- Interval Ratio  1.90   2.45   2.85 

Days        57      74      85 

 

The next set of ratios is known as Activity Ratios and is included in with the Liquidity because 

they determine when these assets are to be converted into cash.  To know the rational why 

certain accounts on the balance sheet are matched with certain accounts on Income Statement, 

the following chart may prove helpful. 

 

I recall when studying accounting in college, one of my college professors stated that the Income 

Statement causes items on the Balance Sheet to appear.  I did not quite grasp the concept back 
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then, but I certainly understand it now because, whatever happens during the operations of a 

company will end up on the balance sheet as an asset, liability or in the equity section. 

 

 Income Statement    Balance Sheet 

 

 Sales     →→→→→  Accounts Receivable 

 

 Cost of Goods Sold     →→→→→  Inventory 

       Accounts Payable 

 

 Operating Expenses   →→→→→  Accrued Expenses 

 

 Income Tax Expense  →→→→→  Income Tax Payable 

 

 Dividend Declared     →→→→→  Dividend Payable 

 

 

Accounts Receivable Turnover Rate 

 

Calculation:          Net Sales  

  Accounts Receivable 

 

It measures the liquidity of Accounts Receivable by calculating the number of times trade 

Accounts Receivable turn over during the year.  The higher the turnover of Accounts Receivable, 

the shorter the time between sale and cash collection.  For example, if Accounts Receivable 

turnover rate is 12 times this year versus 8 times last year, it means the company received 4 more 

payments from its customers this year than last year.  Because this ratio is calculated using one 

day’s Accounts Receivable as of the statement date, seasonal fluctuations are not considered. 

 

 

Accounts Receivable Turnover in Days 

 

Calculation: 365 days (or the number of days in a period being measured) 

   Accounts Receivable Turnover Rate 

 

This figure expresses the average number of days that Accounts Receivable are outstanding.  

Generally, the higher the ratio (i.e., the greater number of days outstanding), the greater the 

probability of delinquencies in Accounts Receivable. 

 

 

Inventory Turnover Rate 

 

Calculation: Cost of Goods Sold  

       Inventory 
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It measures the liquidity of Inventory by calculating the number of times Inventory turns over 

during the year.  The higher the turnover of Inventory, the shorter the time between the purchase 

of raw material need to produce finished goods for sale (for a manufacturer); or the purchase of 

completed goods for re-sale (for a wholesaler and retailer).  Because this ratio is calculated using 

one day’s Inventory as of the statement date, seasonal fluctuations are not considered. 

 

Inventory Turnover in Days 

 

Calculation: 365 days (or the number of days in a period being measured) 

   Inventory Turnover Rate 

 

This figure expresses the average number of days it takes for cash used to purchase raw material 

or finished goods inventory to be sold to the end user.  Generally, the higher the number of 

Inventory days outstanding, the more the need for cash to carry this inventory.  

 

 

Inventory to Net Working Capital 

 

Calculation: Inventory 

Working Capital 

 

This ratio measures the relationship between the least liquid of the current assets and the amount 

of free, or uncommitted, current assets of an entity.  If the ratio of inventory to working is less 

that 1 (say .75 or 75%) it means the remaining 25% of net working capital is made up of highly 

liquid assets that would be able to supply additional cash needs beyond the current liabilities. 

 

The generally accepted standard for this ratio is between 75 to 100 percent since it is usually 

desirable for current assets minus inventory to at least equal current liabilities.  The standard, 

however, depends upon specific situation. 

 

 

Accounts Payable Turnover Rate 

 

Calculation: Cost of Goods Sold 

  Accounts Payable 

 

It measures how often Accounts Payable are paid by calculating the number of times trade 

Accounts Payable turn over during the year.  The higher the turnover of Accounts Payable, the 

shorter the time of payment between the purchase of goods and the payment for those goods.   

For example, if Accounts Payable turnover rate is 12 times this year versus 8 times last year, it 

means the company issued 4 more payments to its suppliers this year than last year.  Because this 

ratio is calculated using one day’s Accounts Payable as of the statement date, seasonal 

fluctuations are not considered. 
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Accounts Payable Turnover in Days 

 

Calculation: 365 days (or the number of days in a period being measured) 

   Accounts Payable Turnover Rate 

 

This figure expresses the average number of days that Accounts Payable are outstanding.  

Generally, the higher the ratio (i.e., the greater number of days outstanding), the greater the 

probability of the company being delinquent with its suppliers and other creditors. 

 

 

      2017  2018  2019 

 

A/R Turnover Rate    7.0  8.1  7.4 

 

A/R Turnover Days    52  45  49 

 

Inventory Turnover Rate   2.9  2.7  3.1 

 

Inventory Turnover Days   128  135  116 

 

Accounts Payable Turnover Rate  6.9  13.0  13.5 

 

Accounts Payable Turnover Days  53  28  27 

 

Inventory to Working Capital   1.31  1.14  0.94 

 

 

LEVERAGE 
 

Leverage refers to the proportion of funds invested in an entity by the creditors in the form of 

loans and the owners in the form of equity.  Highly leverage firms (those with heavy debt in 

relation to net worth) are more vulnerable to business downturn than those with lower debt to 

worth positions.  While leverage ratios help measure this vulnerability, it does greatly depend on 

the requirements of industry groups. 

 

Debt to Net Worth 

 

Calculation: Total Debt 

  Tangible Net Worth  

 

This ratio indicates the extent to which the company’s funds are contributed by creditors 

compared to the owners.  It expresses the degree of protection provided by the owners for the 
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creditors.  A low ratio generally indicates greater long-term debt paying ability.  A firm with a 

low debt/worth ratio usually has greater flexibility to borrow in the future.  A highly leveraged 

company has a limited ability to absorb more debt. 

 

Debt to Total Assets  

 

Calculation: Total Debt  

  Total Assets  

 

 

This ratio indicates the extent to which the assets of a company are supported by debt.  It should 

always be below a 1 to 1 mark.  The lower the ratio the less creditors have at risk in relations to 

the investment by owners.  It is another way to view leverage by determining if creditors or 

owners are providing the majority support of the assets. 

 

 

     2013   2014   2015 

 

Debt to Tangible Net Worth  1.33   1.09   0.93 

 

Debt to Total Assets   51.7   52.2   48.3 

 

Net Fixed Assets to TAN  0.38   0.41   0.39 

 

 

 

ASSET MANAGEMENT (EFFICIENCY) RATIOS 
 

Asset Management or Efficiency Ratios measures management’s ability to utilize assets to 

generate revenue or create value (i.e., generate a profit). 

 

Asset Efficiency or Asset Turnover Ratio 

 

Calculation: Total Sales 

  Total Assets  

 

This ratio measures management’s ability to use its Total Assets to its best advantage.  Since 

sales are the numerator, it measures the ability of Total Assets to generate sales.  A lower ratio 

from earlier periods indicates that the existing assets owed at the time the ratio was calculated 

were not as efficient in generating sales as in the past.  This ratio is useful when considering a 

loan request to increase operating and non-operating assets. 

 

Net Fixed Assets Efficiency or Turnover Ratio 

 

Calculation: Total Sales  
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  Net Fixed Assets 

 

This ratio is most useful for companies in which Fixed Assets represent a major portion of Total 

Assets.  It measures the extent to which Fixed Assets can generate revenue or sales.  A falling 

ratio indicates the existing Net Fixed Assets are not as efficient in generating sales as they were 

in previous periods.  It is most useful when considering a term loan request to acquire equipment 

or other Fixed Assets.  

 

Fixed Asset Usage Ratio 

 

 Calculation:  Accumulated Depreciation  

       Gross Fixed Assets 

 

This ratio is useful in determining how much usage the Fixed Assets has experienced.  It is most 

useful to lenders considering a request to finance new equipment.  If the usage is less than 50%, 

further justification should be required for new or replacement Fixed Assets. 

 

 

Fixed Asset Life Ratio 

 

Calculation: Net Fixed Assets  

  Depreciation Expense 
 

Similar to the ratio above, this ratio indicates how much life is left in the Fixed Assets by taking 

the Net Fixed Assets and dividing it by the current year’s depreciation expense.  This ratio 

should complement the above ratio.  For example, if the Fixed Assets Usage Ratio indicates 

usage of 90%, you would not expect the Fixed Assets Life Ratio to show 8 years of life left. 

 

     2013   2014   2015 

 

Asset Turnover Ratio   1.86   1.81   2.02 

 

Net Fixed Asset Efficiency Ratio 11.4   9.2   10.1 

 

Fixed Asset Usage Ratio  0.67   0.65   0.66 

 

Net Fixed Asset Life Ratio  5.2 years  6.4 years          4.8 years 
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OPERATING PERFORMANCE  
 

These ratios indicate management’s ability to manage a company towards profitability. 

 

Gross Profit Margin 

 

Calculation: Gross Profit 

 Net Sales 

 

This ratio expresses Gross Profit as a percentage of Net Sales.  It measures how many dollars out 

of each dollar of sales remains to cover all operating expenses (those that are not directly related 

to the costs required to produce the good or service).  The higher the margin, the more funds 

available to cover operating expenses. 

 

Operating Profit Margin 

 

Calculation: Operating Profit  

 Net Sales 

 

This ratio expresses Operating Profit as a percentage of Net Sales.  It measures how many dollars 

or cents out of each dollar of sales remains to cover other non-operating expenses including: 

Interest, Extra-Ordinary Expenses, Taxes, etc.  The higher the margin, the more funds available 

to cover these items. 

 

Net Profit Margin 

 

Calculation: Net Profit  

  Net Sales 

 

This ratio expresses Net Profit as a percentage of Net Sales.  It measures how many dollars or 

cents out of each dollar of sales remains as profit.  The higher the margin, the more profitable the 

company. 

 

Return on Stockholders Equity 

 

Calculation: Net Income 

  Stockholder’s Equity 

 

This ratio expresses the profitability of the company’s operations to owner after income taxes.  It 

can be compared to alternative investments available to the owners. 
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Return on Investment (Assets) 

 

Calculation: Net Income 

  Total Assets  

 

This ratio measures the effective utilization of the assets of the company in generating profits or 

creating value. 

 

 

     2013   2014   2015 

 

Gross Profit Margin   22.8%   25.8%   28.7% 

 

Operating Profit Margin  6.1%   6.0%   9.4% 

 

Net Profit Margin   1.9%   2.6%   5.2% 

 

Return on Equity   8.3%   9.8%   20.5% 

 

Return on Assets   3.4%   4.7%   10.6% 
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CASH FLOW  
 

Cash Flow Analysis measure the ability of a borrower to meet its financing obligations including 

Interest Expense, Principal Payments on Long-Term Debt, and other fixed charges such as Lease 

Payments.  The first component of Cash Flow is the calculation of the Interest Coverage Ratio 

calculated as follows{ 

 

Interest Coverage Ratio 

 

Calculation: Earning (profit) before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation & Amortization  

    Annual Interest Expense 

 

 

This ratio is a measure of a firm’s ability to meet interest payments. It measures the number of 

times all interest paid by the company is covered by earnings before interest charges and taxes. A 

high ratio may indicate that a borrower would have little difficulty in meeting the interest 

obligations of a loan. This ratio also serves as an indicator of a firm’s capacity to take on 

additional debt. 

 

   500 + 97 + 0 + 196 

     97 

 

    = 8.3 Times 

 

It must be understood that Cash and not Profits can repay a loan and therein lies the problem 

because many financial statements received by banks are prepared on an Accrual Basis as 

opposed to a Cash Basis.   

 

Accounting Method: Cash Basis Vs. Accrual Basis 

 

 Financial Statements and Tax Returns can be prepared on Cash or an Accrual Basis. The 

difference in the two accounting methods is vast. Both methods have their advantages and 

disadvantages. Unfortunately, bankers often do not have a say in type of accounting method the 

client will present unless while a problem loan situation in which the banker mandates the type 

of accounting method. 

  

Accrual Basis 

 

 Financial statements prepared on an Accrual Basis will recognize all economic events regardless 

of the collection of cash at the point of sale or the payment of costs and expenses at the time the 

costs and expenses are incurred. Simply stated, the Accrual Method records all economic 

transactions that a normal entity will incur on a day-to-day basis. The advantage of the Accrual 

Method is that the user will see all the accounting transactions in each period thus providing the 
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opportunity to perform a thorough analysis on the entity. The disadvantage is that the Accrual 

Method does not indicate the amount of cash generate or used by the entity.  

 

Cash Basis 

 

Financial statements prepared on the Cash Basis will recognize economic events only when cash 

is collected from sales and paid out for costs and expenses. It is meant to present a more 

conservative look at the performance on an entity by ignoring transactions that do not generate 

cash or use cash. Companies that use this method do not want to “Count Their Chickens Before 

They Hatch”, so to speak.  

 

Since the Cash Basis only reflects cash transactions, there is no need to perform a Cash Flow 

Analysis because the financial statements are on a Cash Basis already. The disadvantage is that 

the user of the financial statements will not see all the economic events an entity incurred and as 

such, a thorough analysis of the entity cannot be performed.  

 

Cash Basis of accounting is often used by law, accounting, engineering, architectural firms, and 

many other similar service related businesses because collections of amounts due from clients 

may take longer than other entities that provide a vital product that is critical to the production of 

goods and services. 

 

Companies utilizing the Cash Basis will not show accrual accounts on their balance sheets such 

as Accounts Receivable, Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses and as such, the loan officer 

should request for an ageing of those accounts so that a thorough analysis can be performed. 

 

CASH FLOW METHODOLOGIES  

  

Cash Flow can be determined by utilizing one of several methods utilized in the financial 

services industry.  The methods include the Indirect Direct and UCA.  

  

Indirect Method  

  

The Indirect Method is recognized by Generally Accepted Accounting Principle and is often 

used by preparers of financial statements.  The Indirect Method starts by converting Net Income 

or Loss into cash flow or a cash loss.  Following is an example of how the Indirect Method is 

calculated and presented.    

  

• OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Generally, includes the cash effects of transactions and other events that enter the 

determination of net income.  It is the cash generated or used in producing profits or 

losses  

 

• INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Generally, includes the cash effects of transactions involving the acquisition or disposal 

of fixed assets  
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• FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

Generally, includes the cash effects of transactions and other events involving creditors 

and owners  

  

  

An example of the Indirect Method is shown on the attached Highway Safety Manufacturing, Inc 

Statement of Cash Flows  

  

UCA Method  

  

The Uniform Cash Analysis Method was created by bankers for bankers.  Although it is not 

officially recognized by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, it works for bankers because 

it rearranges items on the Cash Flow Statements in an order that makes more sense when 

analyzing the ability of a company to service debt.  Even though the UCA Method is not GAAP 

compliant, it is safe to use because the result of a properly calculated UCA is a balancing to the 

change in the Cash position from the beginning of the period to the ending of a period.  This is 

the same for the Indirect Method which follows GAAP.   

  

Traditional Method 

 

A method used to calculate the potential ability to generate cash flow to service debt on an after-

tax basis 

 

 

Earnings Before Interest Taxes Depreciation & Amortization 

 

A method used  to  consider the potential ability to generate cash flow to service debt on a pre-

tax basis 

 

 

There are major shortcomings in utilizing the Traditional and EBITDA methods in calculating 

potential cash flow because the Traditional and EBITDA Models stops at the Income Statement 

and ignores the input of the Balance Sheet.    Consider the following two calculations:  

  

Traditional Model               EBITDA  

  

Net Income                 EBITDA 

+ Depreciation and Other Non-Cash Charges Annual Debt Service + Interest           

Available Cash Flow   

/ Annual Debt Service (P & I)  

  

= Debt Coverage Ratio < 1.25 X                  =Debt Coverage Ratio  
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These models have four major fallacies:  

  

• They completely ignore the input of the balance sheet as all potential sources of cash is 

derived from the Income Statement Only  

  

• This Model assumes that the Available Cash Flow or EBITDA can and will be collected  

  

• This Model considers Cash Flow generated or used within a period while true Cash Flow 

analysis must have a beginning period and an ending period  

  

• “We bankers think we are all that”, meaning that we believe we are first in line to be 

repaid from potential Cash Flow while ignoring other demands on that cash such as 

increasing Inventory (which would be considered if the Balance Sheet is included in the 

analysis)  

  

  

To calculate Cash Flow properly, the Balance Sheet must be included because:  

  

  

• Sources and Uses of Cash can be determined from the Balance Sheet also.  

  

• The Balance Sheet records the place where cash was either generated or spent  

  

To determine the impact of the Balance Sheet in determining Cash Flow, one must know the 

Rules of Cash Flow as follows: 
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RULES OF CASH FLOW BALANCE SHEET  

 

INCREASE   DECREASE   SOURCE   USE 

  

   Asset            X  

                                          Asset        X  

  

   Liability           X 

                                         Liability        X   

 

            

  Net Worth           X        

 

                                         Net Worth       X 

 

 

 

         Tradition 

 UCA 

 Net Profit        500  500 

 Plus: Non-Cash Charges     196  196 

 + Change in Accounts Receivable           0             (282) 

 + Change in Inventory             0              (187) 

 + Change in Accounts Payable                     0  132 

 + Change in Accrued Expenses               0       49 

 = Cash After Operating Cycle     696  408 

 Minus: Dividends Declared            0              (243) 

 + Change in Net Worth              0       0 

 = Cash After Financing Cost     696     165        

 Less: Current Portion of LTD     (134)  (134) 

 = Cash Available for Other Debt      562       31 

 + Change in Gross Fixed Assets              (219)            (219) 

 = Financing Surplus (Requirement)      343    (188) 
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The Cash Flow calculation shown above is more comprehensive than the traditional formula of 

Net Profit plus Depreciation because it considers changes in working capital requirements of 

companies which either generate or use cash.  By using the above calculation, the analyst can see 

the impact upon cash at various target points as shown by the bold lines in the formula.  The 

definitions of cash at each target point are as follows: 

 

Cash After Operating Cycle: This is the Cash remaining after considering the operating 

performance of the entity plus or minus the impact of the change in 

Net Working Investment (Accounts Receivable plus Inventory 

minus Accounts Payable plus Accrued Expenses.   

 

Cash After Financing Cost: This is the Cash remaining after considering the impact of any 

dividends paid and/or owners’ withdrawals from the company. 

 

Cash Available  

  For Other Debt: This is the Cash available to meet future debt payments.  It 

measures the company’s ability to take on additional debt.  It is 

measured before Fixed Assets increases or decreases because 

changes in Fixed Assets are generally at the discretion of 

management. 

 

Financing Surplus 

  (Requirement): This is the Cash Surplus or Requirement the company experienced 

after considering the major items that impact cash.  If a Financing 

Surplus resulted, the cash was used to pay down existing debt, pay 

dividends, or reinvested in the form of Fixed Assets or Equity.  If a 

Financing Requirement resulted, the company was required to 

utilize its own cash, borrow, or raise equity to meet all their 

obligations incurred during the previous year. 
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OTHER FINANCIAL RATIOS 
 

 

EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

Net Income Minus Preferred Dividends 

Weighted Shares Outstanding 

 

 

 

 

PRICE EARNINGS RATIO 

 

Market Price of Stock 

Earnings Per Share 

 

 

 

 

PAYOUT RATIO 

 

Cash Dividends 

Net Income Less Preferred Dividends 

 

 

 

 

BOOK VALUE PER SHARE 

 

Common Stockholders’ Equity 

Outstanding Shares 

 

 

 

 

CASH FLOW PER SHARE 

 

Net Income + Noncash Adjustments 

Outstanding Shares 
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